TGEGKXGF."413: 14236"39-6: -69."Lqj p"C0"Vqo cukpq."Engtm"Uwrtgo g"Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT Fourth DCA Case No. 4D10-3051

ourth Berr ease 100. 1B10 30

DIANNE L. HAHAMOVITCH n/k/a DIANNE LYNN Petitioner,

VS.

HARRY H. HAHAMOVITCH Respondent.

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Supreme Court Case No. SC14-277

BRADY & BRADY, P.A.

Jeanne C. Brady, Esq. Florida Bar No. 0997749 Petitioner's Counsel 350 Camino Gardens Blvd., Suite 300 Boca Raton, FL 33432 Phone: (561) 338-9256

Fax: (561) 338-5824

Jeanne@BradyLawFirm.biz

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT REGARDING RECORD REFERENCES:

INTRODUCTION:

This petition evolves from the dissolution of a long term marriage. The Fourth District's January 8, 2014 decision interpreted a 1986 prenuptial agreement between the parties (the "PA"). *Hahamovitch v. Hahamovitch*, — So. 3d —, 2014 WL 52717, *reh'g. den.*, February 3, 2014 (Fla. 4th DCA 2014) (the "Decision").

Wife filed her Notice to Invoke this Court's Discretionary Jurisdiction on grounds that the Decision passes on question certified to be of great public importance, and it certifies direct conflict with opinions two other districts. *Fla. Const. Article V § 3(b)(4)*; *Rules 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v)* and *(vi), Fla.R.App.P.* The Fourth District found the following recurring legal issue to be one that has great impact on the citizens of this state, and certified it to be of great public importance:

WHERE A PRENUPTIAL AGREEMENT PROVIDES THAT NEITHER SPOUSE WILL EVER CLAIM ANY INTEREST IN THE OTHER'S PROPERTY, STATES THAT EACH SPOUSE SHALL BE THE SOLE OWNER OF PROPERTY PURCHASED OR ACQUIRED IN HIS OR HER NAME, AND CONTAINS LANGUAGE PURPORTING TO WAIVE AND RELEASE ALL RIGHTS AND CLAIMS THAT A SPOUSE MAY BE ENTITLED TO AS A RESULT OF THE MARRIAGE, DO SUCH PROVISIONS SERVE TO WAIVE A SPOUSE'S RIGHT TO ANY SHARE OF ASSETS TITLED IN THE OTHER SPOUSE'S NAME, EVEN IF THOSE ASSETS WERE ACQUIRED DURING THE MARRIAGE DUE TO THE PARTIES' MARITAL EFFORTS OR APPRECIATED IN VALUE DURING THE MARRIAGE DUE TO THE PARTIES' MARRIAGE DUE TO THE PARTIES'

Pursuant to Rule 9.120(d), Fla.R.App.P., when invoking discretionary review

of cases certified as being "questions of great public importance" no jurisdictional brief is filed. *Id*; *Florida Appellate Practice* (2014 Edition, vol. 2), § 29:4 p. 742-43 (Padovano, Phillip J.). Consequently, certified question jurisdiction is not argued in this brief, other than to state that this Court has certified a question jurisdiction pursuant to *Rule* 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v), *Fla.R.App.P.* because the entire panel that issued this Decision concurred in certifying the question, there were no dissents disagreeing with the decision to certify, the merits of the legal issue(s) in this Decision were resolved by the panel, and the Decision did not merely certify the question without resolving the merits. *Floridians for a Level Playing Field v. Floridians Against Expanded Gambling*, 967 So. 2d 832 (Fla. 2007). This Court's review will settle a recurring legal issue that has a significant impact on citizens who have entered into prenuptial agreements. *Id*.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT:

Pursuant to *Rule 9.120(d)*, *Fla.R.App.P*. Wife files this brief in support of her notice invoking the Court's discretionary certified conflict jurisdiction under *Fla Const. Article V*, § 3(b)(4). The Fourth District explicitly identified *Valdes v. Valdes*, 894 So. 2d 264 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2004) and *Irwin v. Irwin*, 857 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2003) as decisions of other districts with which it conflicts [Op. 8]. This Court may exercise its jurisdiction under *Article V*, § 3(b)(4) to review any decision of a district

court of appeal that is ". . . certified by it to be in direct conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal" on the same question of law. *Fla. Const. Art. V*, § 3(b)(4); *Rule* 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi), *Fla.R.App.P*. This Court also has conflict jurisdiction under Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Fla.R.App.P.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS:

The Fourth District interpreted the PA's waiver, release and title presumption provisions far broader than other district courts have interpreted substantially identical provisions, announced a rule of law that conflicts with a rule of law previously announced by two other district courts and certified direct conflict with the Second District's *Irwin* decision and the Third District's *Valdes* decision [Op. 8]. The language of the waiver, release and title presumption provisions of the prenuptial agreements in this Decision, *Irwin* and *Valdes* are all substantially identical [Id.]. Even so, the Decision deemed the PA's title presumption and release provision broad enough to waive Wife's right to any asset titled in Husband's name that was acquired or enhanced during the marriage with marital labor or earnings, even though the waiver is silent on the issue of appreciation of non-marital property and there's no specific waiver of salary. In doing so, the Fourth District recognized that *Irwin* and

¹ In this long term marriage, the PA provides in part:

^{2.} DIANNE'S RELEASE. Except as otherwise provided for herein, in the event either

Valdes interpret "substantially similar" title and release provisions as not waiving appreciation of non-marital property unless there is an express reference to appreciation [Op. 5].

of the Parties hereto institutes legal proceedings for dissolution of marriage, DIANNE hereby waives and releases, and is hereby barred from any and all rights and claims of every kind, nature and description that she may acquire or to which she may be entitled under the laws of any jurisdiction as a result of the marriage between the Parties, in and to any of HARRY's property, including, but without intending thereby to limit the generality of the foregoing, any and all right to alimony, either lump sum, rehabilitative, permanent, or otherwise, support and maintenance, equitable distribution, division of property, special equities, attorney's fees, or any other rights that DIANNE may have against HARRY relative to financial issues.

- 5. RETENTION OF SOLE PROPERTY. Except to the extent that the parties may otherwise desire, HARRY and DIANNE shall, during their respective lifetimes, keep and retain sole ownership, control, enjoyment and power of disposition with respect to all property, real, personal or mixed, now owned or hereby acquired by each of them respectively, free and clear of any claim by the other.
- 9. MUTUAL RELEASE. In consideration of the marriage of the Parties to each other, and in consideration of the other provisions herein contained, each party agrees that neither will ever claim any interest in the other's property and that the property of every kind, nature and description which either one has on the date of the marriage will remain the respective separate property of each after said marriage, and each agrees not to make any claim against the property of the other.
- 17. TITLE PRESUMPTIONS. It is additionally understood that if HARRY purchases, acquires, or otherwise obtains, property and title to said property is in HARRY's name with DIANNE and no explanation is made as to the percentages of interest that either party has, then it shall be presumed that they shall be 50% 50% owners of said property. If HARRY purchases, acquires, or otherwise obtains, property in his own name, then HARRY shall be the sole owner of same. If DIANNE purchases property in her name, then DIANNE shall be the sole owner of same [Op. 3-4].

In addition, the Decision details the inconsistencies in the case law among all District Courts of Appeal as to waiver of active versus passive appreciation under prenuptial agreements [Op. 6-7]. The Decision conflicts with the Second District, which holds that a simple express waiver of appreciation waives *only passive* appreciation – but does not waive increase in value attributable to marital labor and funds [Op. 6 (citing *Doig v. Doig*, 787 So. 2d 100, 103 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2001))]. Conversely, this Decision deems both active and passive appreciation of non-marital property and Husband's income is waived, even though the PA is silent as to appreciation that occurs as a result of marital labor or marital income [Id.]. The Decision aligns itself with *Cameron v. Cameron*, 591 So. 2d 275, 276-77 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), on waiver of both active and passive appreciation, even though the Fifth District requires an express reference to appreciation [Op. 6]. *Id*.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT:

This Court has certified conflict jurisdiction under Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi). Certification itself presumes that the law is unsettled and that the inconsistency needs resolution. Conflict jurisdiction also exists under Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) because of the conflict among Districts as to whether a simple waiver of "appreciation" waives both active and passive appreciation. This Court should exercise its jurisdiction to settle these matters because of the large number of prenuptial agreements in this state

and the great impact that these splits of authority will have on equitable distribution for its citizens. Settling these issues will assist prenuptial agreement drafters and obviate the inevitable forum shopping that will erupt because of the conflict among the Fourth, Third, Second and Fifth Districts should this Decision stand.

ARGUMENT:

I. THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION BECAUSE FOURTH DISTRICT CERTIFIED ITS DECISION TO BE IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH THE THIRD DISTRICT'S DECISION IN VALDES v. VALDES, 894 SO. 2D 264 (FLA. 3RD DCA 2004) AND THE SECOND DISTRICT'S DECISION IN IRWIN v. IRWIN, 857 SO. 2D 247 (FLA. 2ND DCA 2003)

Although it is not necessary for a District Court to explicitly identify an opinion of another District with which its decision conflicts to create conflict jurisdiction, this Decision does so. *Ford Motor Co. v. Kiwis*, 401 So. 2d 1341, 1342 (Fla. 1981). The Decision explicitly identified *Irwin* and *Valdes* as decisions that it is in direct conflict with [Op. 5, 8].

"[T]he very act of certifying conflict creates confusion or uncertainty in the law that should be resolved by the Court, a view that the Court has approved." Harry Lee Anstead et al., *The Operation and Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida*, 29 Nova L. Rev. 431, 530 (citing *Clark v. State*, 783 So. 2d 967, 969 (Fla. 2001). The law is now quite unsettled among the Districts when it comes to the interpretation of

and Third Districts both construe title presumption and release provisions that are "substantially similar" to that contained in this PA to be *insufficient* to waive a spouse's claim to the enhanced value of the other spouse's non-marital property [Op. 5, 8]. *Valdes*, 897 So. 2d at 267; *Irwin*, 857 So. 2d at 248 (e.s.). In the Fourth District, however, the general release and title presumption clauses are *sufficient* to waive such entitlement [Id.] (e.s.). Given the explicit identification of *Irwin* and *Valdes* as cases with which the Decision directly conflicts, this Court has jurisdiction under *Fla. Const. Article V*, § 3(b)(4). *See also Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)*(2)(A)(vi).

In *Valdes* the antenuptial agreement contained a title presumption clause, and general release of property already owned or to be acquired, that was silent on enhancement and appreciation of non-marital property. *Id.*, 897 So. 2d at 265, 267. The *Valdes* antenuptial agreement stated: 1) the parties would have no interest in or to property acquired prior to the marriage nor make any claim against said property, and 2) assets acquired by parties, where ownership or title was not taken jointly or as tenants by entireties, would be presumed to be non-marital assets, and would be considered the separate property of the spouse acquiring same. *Id.* at 267. The Third District found the waiver and title provisions in that agreement *insufficient* to waive entitlement to enhancement and appreciation of non-marital property. *Id.* (e.s.).

The *Irwin* prenuptial agreement also had title presumption and general release provisions substantially similar to that of this PA [Op. 5, 8]. Under *Irwin*, a prenuptial agreement that does not *specifically designate* a spouse's earnings as separate property *does not* waive assets acquired with those earnings as marital. *Id.*, 857 So. 2d at 248-49 (e.s.) (citing *Witowski v. Witowski*, 758 So. 2d 1181, 1185 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2000) (without *specific provision* stating husband's salary will be his separate property, it's not protected). Our PA does not specifically waive salary or appreciation. The Decision disagreed with both *Irwin* and *Valdes*, and found salary earned by Husband during the marriage, along with all property obtained with those earnings, to be waived and expressly certified a conflict [Op. 8].

The Decision also found the case law among other districts to be very inconsistent as to the equitable distribution of active versus passive appreciation – active appreciation being the result marital labor and earnings [Op. 6-7]. The Fourth District pointed at one of its own prior cases that "suggested" both active and passive appreciation were waived even though the agreement did not expressly describe the nature of the enhancement waived [Op. 6 (citing *Timble v. Timble*, 616 So. 2d 1188, 1189 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993))]. In sharp contrast, the Second District holds that a simple waiver of appreciation or value increase waives *only passive* appreciation – i.e., increase in value that is <u>not</u> attributable marital labor and funds. *Witowski*, 758 So.

2d at 1185 (e.s.); *Worley v. Worley*, 855 So. 2d 632, 635 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2003); *Doig*, 787 So. 2d at 103 (agreement that neither party shall claim or acquire interest in appreciation of other party's separate property during marriage addresses *only passive* appreciation) (e.s.). Conversely, the Fifth District holds that both types of appreciation are waived, including any enhancement in the value of such property, when the waiver specifically addressed future enhancement [Op. 7 (citing *Cameron*)].

As a result of the conflict among the Districts on active versus passive appreciation, this Court also has conflict jurisdiction under *Fla.R.App.P.* 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). With certified direct conflict as to enhancement value, appreciation and salary, and the merits of the Decision being, therefore, irreconcilable with that of *Irwin* and *Valdes*, this Court has and should exercise jurisdiction to review this Decision. *See, e.g., Williams v. Duggan*, 153 So. 2d 726 (1963) (Supreme Court has jurisdiction to resolve conflict resulting when one district court of appeal renders a decision wholly irreconcilable with that of another district). There is also conflict jurisdiction with the Second District's *Doig* decision as to simple express waivers only waiving passive appreciation.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS JURISDICTION TO RESOLVE THE CONFLICTS AND RESULTING UNCERTAINTY IN THE LAW

Exercise of jurisdiction will clarify uncertain and conflicting case law. There

are an enormous number of prenuptial agreements in this state. Title presumption

provisions are very common in prenuptial agreements. The Decision itself states that

the issues have significant impact on the citizens of this state [Op. 11]. Resolution of

the conflicts will assist prenuptial agreements drafters, curb litigation over entitlement

to salary and appreciation occurring during marriage from marital efforts and

eliminate forum shopping for the desired outcome of a spouse's claim for a share of

salary and appreciation of non-marital assets. The scope and specificity of waivers

must be resolved. This Court can reject the unwarranted, newly expanded reading of

title presumption clauses. The waiver of appreciation value – be it active or passive,

or both - conflicts among the districts and remains quite unsettled. This Court

should exercise jurisdiction and resolve these issues.

CONCLUSION:

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction. Petitioner respectfully asks the Court

to exercise it.