IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC14-277

DIANNE L. HAHAMOVITCH n/k/a DIANNE LYNN,

L.T. CASE NOS: 4DCA CASE NO. 4D10-3051 15th CASE NO. 2008DR001392SBFY

Petitioner,

v.

HARRY H. HAHAMOVITCH,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

JANE KREUSLER-WALSH and REBECCA MERCIER VARGAS of KREUSLER-WALSH, COMPIANI & VARGAS, P.A. 501 South Flagler Drive, Suite 503 West Palm Beach, FL 33401-5913 (561) 659-5455 and JOEL M. WEISSMAN SARAH A. SAULL JOEL WEISSMAN, P.A. 515 N. Flagler Drive, Suite 1100 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (561) 655-4655

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The parties entered a prenuptial agreement in 1986 (A:3). The Fourth District affirmed the trial court's findings that former wife failed to prove the prenuptial agreement was invalid due to fraud or misrepresentation (A:2). In addition, the prenuptial agreement was fair when entered (A:2).

The Fourth District explained that "[t]he main issue concerning the interpretation of the prenuptial agreement is whether the wife waived any claim to

¹ The citations to the Fourth District's decision are to the slip opinion in the appendix to wife's jurisdictional brief (A:1-10). All bolded emphasis is supplied. All italicized emphasis was provided by the Fourth District in its decision.

assets titled solely in the husband's name at the time of the divorce, even if those assets were acquired during the marriage due to the parties' marital efforts or appreciated in value during the marriage due to the parties' marital efforts." (A:3). The prenuptial agreement provides:

2. *DIANNE'S RELEASE.* Except as otherwise provided for herein, in the event either of the Parties hereto institutes legal proceedings for . . . dissolution of marriage . . ., DIANNE hereby waives and releases, and is hereby barred from any and all rights and claims of every kind, nature and description that she may acquire or to which she may be entitled under the laws of any jurisdiction as a result of the marriage between the Parties, in and to any of HARRY's property, including, but without intending thereby to limit the generality of the foregoing, any and all right to . . . equitable distribution, division of property, special equities, attorney's fees, or any other rights that DIANNE may have against HARRY relative to financial issues.

5. *RETENTION OF SOLE PROPERTY.* Except to the extent that the parties may otherwise desire, HARRY and DIANNE shall, during their respective lifetimes, keep and retain sole ownership, control, enjoyment and power of disposition with respect to *all property, real, personal or mixed, now owned or hereby acquired by each of them respectively,* free and clear of any claim by the other

9. *MUTUAL RELEASE.* In consideration of the marriage of the Parties to each other, and in consideration of the other provisions herein contained, each party agrees that *neither will ever claim any interest in the other's property and that the property of every kind, nature and description which either one has on the date of the marriage* will

remain the respective separate property of each after said marriage, and each agrees not to make any claim against the property of the other

17. TITLE PRESUMPTIONS. It is additionally understood that if HARRY purchases, acquires, or otherwise obtains, property and title to said property is in HARRY's name with DIANNE and no explanation is made as to the percentages of interest that either party has, then it shall be presumed that they shall be 50%–50% owners of said property. If HARRY purchases, acquires, or otherwise obtains, property in his own name, then HARRY shall be the sole owner of same. If DIANNE purchases property in her name, then DIANNE shall be the sole owner of same.

(A:3-4).

The Fourth District recognized that, in general, the appreciation or enhancement of non-marital property is considered marital property subject to equitable distribution (A:5). In a prenuptial agreement, a spouse can expressly waive the right to the appreciation or enhancement of the other spouse's non-marital property (A:5).

The Fourth District held that "under the plain language of the prenuptial agreement, the wife waived and released claims to property or assets owned by the husband at the time of the agreement, or acquired in his own name thereafter, including any enhancement in the value of such property." (A:7). The agreement "was broad enough to waive the wife's right to any asset titled in the husband's name that was acquired during the marriage or that appreciated in value due to marital income or efforts during the marriage" (A:7).

The decision distinguished the decisions in *Valdes v. Valdes*, 894 So. 2d 264 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004), and *Irwin v. Irwin*, 857 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), as involving prenuptial agreements that failed to expressly waive the right to appreciation or enhancement of non-marital property (A:5). The Fourth District recognized that the prenuptial agreement in *Valdes* stated that the parties would have no interest in the other spouse's premarital property and that assets acquired during the marriage titled in the spouse's individual names are presumed to be non-marital (A:5). *See Valdes*, 894 So. 2d at 265. The Fourth District distinguished *Valdes* as holding "that the wife did not waive her right to seek equitable distribution of the enhanced value of non-marital property where the parties' prenuptial agreement **was silent** on the issue of enhancement or appreciation of the parties' non-marital property." (A:5).

For similar reasons, the Fourth District distinguished *Irwin* (A:5). The Fourth District described *Irwin* as holding "that if a prenuptial agreement **does not specifically designate a spouse's earnings as separate property**, the assets acquired with those earnings will be treated as marital." (A:5). *See Irwin*, 857 So. 2d at 248. Unlike *Irwin*, the prenuptial agreement in this case "was broad enough to waive the wife's right to any asset titled in the husband's name that was acquired during the marriage or that appreciated in value due to marital income or efforts during the marriage" (A:7).

The Fourth District "acknowledge[d] that both the Second and Third Districts have construed prenuptial agreements with substantially similar title provisions as being insufficient to waive a spouse's claim to the enhanced value of the other spouse's non-marital property that resulted from marital earnings." (A:8). The decision certified conflict, but only "**[t]o the extent** that this decision is in conflict with" *Valdes* and *Irwin* (A:8). The decision also certified the same issue as a question of great public importance:

Where a prenuptial agreement provides that neither spouse will ever claim any interest in the other's property, states that each spouse shall be the sole owner of property purchased or acquired in his or her name, and contains language purporting to waive and release all rights and claims that a spouse may be entitled to as a result of the marriage, do such provisions serve to waive a spouse's right to any share of assets titled in the other spouse's name, even if those assets were acquired during the marriage due to the parties' marital efforts or appreciated in value during the marriage due to the parties' marital efforts?

(A:9-10).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should exercise its discretion to discharge jurisdiction. This case presents a narrow legal issue regarding the interpretation of the parties' prenuptial agreement. In the parties' prenuptial agreement, former wife waived and released her right to former husband's premarital property. This waiver expressly encompassed non-marital property former husband would acquire in the future. The Fourth District held that this language was broad enough to expressly waive former wife's right to share in the appreciation of former husband's non-marital assets. The Fourth District distinguished decisions from the Second and Third Districts as involving premarital agreements that were silent on appreciation of non-marital assets. Despite this distinction, the Fourth District certified, "[t]o the extent" one existed, a conflict with these decisions from the Second and Third Districts. No conflict exists for this Court to resolve.

The Fourth District also certified the same issue as one of great public importance. It is not. It involves a narrow legal issue which is well-settled. There is no conflict or need to answer the certified questions.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD DISCHARGE JURISDICTION BECAUSE THERE IS NO CONFLICT OR QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE ON WHETHER A SPOUSE CAN EXPRESSLY WAIVE RIGHT THE то APPRECIATION OF NON-MARITAL PROPERTY.

There is no conflict or question of great public importance to resolve. The district court qualified its certification "[t]o the extent that this decision is in conflict with" *Irwin* and *Valdes* (A:8). This Court often discharges jurisdiction when it finds no conflict and the certified question is not one of great public importance. *See, e.g., State v. Lovelace*, 928 So. 2d 1176, 1177 (Fla. 2006) (discharging jurisdiction where the certified conflict cases "address different situations and are not in conflict"); *State v. Sowell*, 734 So. 2d 421, 422 (Fla. 1999) (discharging jurisdiction of a certified question that "deals with an extremely narrow principle of law and, as phrased, does

not present an issue of 'great public importance'"). That is true here. There is no reason for this Court to accept jurisdiction simply to rubber-stamp the conclusions of the Fourth District. *See Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp. v. Ballard*, 749 So. 2d 483, 485 n.3 (Fla. 1999) (discouraging district courts from certifying a question merely to request "approval of the conclusion reached by the court below" when the issue is not of great public importance). This Court should discharge jurisdiction.

This case presents a narrow legal issue-whether the language in the prenuptial agreement expressly waived former wife's right to appreciation or enhancement of former husband's non-marital property (A:5-8). In the prenuptial agreement, the former wife "waives and releases, and is hereby barred from any and all rights and claims of every kind ... in and to any of HARRY's property, including, ... any and all right to ... equitable distribution, [and] division of property" (A:3, ¶2). Both spouses agreed that "neither will ever claim any interest in the other's property and that the property of every kind, nature and description which either one has on the date of the marriage will remain the respective separate property of each" (A:3, ¶9). Former wife also expressly agreed that former husband will "keep and retain sole ownership, control, enjoyment and power of disposition with respect to all property, real, personal or mixed, now owned or hereby acquired by each of them respectively" (A:3, \P 5). The prenuptial agreement also provided, "If HARRY purchases, acquires, or otherwise obtains, property in his own name, then HARRY shall be the sole owner of same." (A:3-4, ¶17).

The Fourth District held that "under the plain language of the prenuptial agreement, the wife waived and released claims to property or assets owned by the husband at the time of the agreement, or acquired in his own name thereafter, including any enhancement in the value of such property." (A:7). The agreement "was broad enough to waive the wife's right to any asset titled in the husband's name that was acquired during the marriage or that appreciated in value due to marital income or efforts during the marriage" (A:7).

There is no conflict with *Valdes*, 894 So. 2d at 267, and *Irwin*, 857 So. 2d at 248-49. Unlike the agreement here, the prenuptial agreements in those cases used different language that was silent on the appreciation of non-marital property. *See Valdes*, 894 So. 2d at 265-67; *Irwin*, 857 So. 2d at 248-49. In *Valdes*, the prenuptial agreement provided that when a spouse acquires property in his or her individual name, the property "shall be presumed to be non-marital," but was silent on enhancement or appreciation of the non-marital property. 894 So. 2d at 265-67. For this reason, the Third District concluded that the former wife "did not waive her right to seek equitable distribution of the enhanced value of non-marital properties, despite the prenuptial agreement." *Id.* at 267.

Similarly, in *Irwin*, the prenuptial agreement provided that the wife "hereby waives and releases all rights in the property and estate of" the husband. 857 So. 2d at 248. The Second District reasoned that "[t]he agreement did not specifically reserve [the husband's] marital earnings as his separate property and thus did not exclude [the

wife's] claim to share in the value of assets purchased with those earnings." *Id.* at 248-49.

Unlike *Valdes* and *Irwin*, former wife here expressly waived her right to future enhancement of former husband's non-marital property "*now owned or hereby acquired*" and agreed that if former husband "*purchases, acquires, or otherwise obtains, property in his own name, then HARRY shall be the sole owner of same.*" (A:3-4, ¶¶ 5, 17). This prenuptial agreement expressly contemplates enhancement of non-marital property in the future (A:7).

Former wife also urges this Court to accept jurisdiction to resolve a different alleged conflict not certified by the Fourth District. Wife claims conflict with Second District decisions² holding that a simple waiver of appreciation in value waives only passive appreciation, but not active appreciation. The Fourth District distinguished these cases because the agreement here used language that "does address property acquired by the husband in the future," which is broad enough to "waive future enhancement of non-marital property, even if it is due to marital earnings or labor." (A:7). A contrary interpretation would "read the title presumption provision out of the agreement." (A:7). There is no direct and express conflict with the decisions in *Worley, Witowski*, and *Doig*.

² See Worley v. Worley, 855 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003); Doig v. Doig, 787 So. 2d 100 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001); Witowski v. Witowski, 758 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000).

CONCLUSION

There is no conflict or need to answer the certified question. This Court should

exercise its discretion and discharge its discretionary jurisdiction.

JANE KREUSLER-WALSH and **REBECCA MERCIER VARGAS of** KREUSLER-WALSH, COMPIANI & VARGAS, P.A. 501 South Flagler Drive, Suite 503 West Palm Beach, FL 33401-5913 (561) 659-5455 Primary: janewalsh@kwcvpa.com rvargas@kwcvpa.com Secondary: <u>eservice@kwcvpa.com</u> and JOEL M. WEISSMAN SARAH A. SAULL JOEL WEISSMAN, P.A. 515 N. Flagler Drive, Suite 1100 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (561) 655-4655 Primary: info@jmwpa.com Secondary: joel@jmwpa.com sarahs@jmwpa.com Counsel for Respondent

REBECCA MERCIER VARGAS Florida Bar No. 0150037